1. NAME OF PROPERTY

United States Department of the Interior, National Park Service

Historic Name: Hungarian Settlement School

Other Name/Site Number:

ſ	RECEIVED 2280	Δ_{1}	
6	JUN 2 5 200		
	NAT. REGISTER OF HISTORIC PL NATIONAL PARK SERVICE	ACES	J

2. LOCATION

Street & Number	LA HWY	43 and	Presbyterian Church Ro	bad	Not for publication:	NA
City/Town	Albany				Vicinity: X	
State: Louisiana	Code:	LA	County: Livingston	Code: 063	Zip Code: 70711	

3. STATE/FEDERAL AGENCY CERTIFICATION

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, I hereby certify that this _X_ nomination _____ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property _X_ meets _____ does not meet the National Register Criteria.

Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties: Nationally:___ Statewide:___ Locally:_X___

Signature of Certifying Official/Title Jonathan Fricker Deputy SHPO Dept of Culture, Recreation and Tourism

State or Federal Agency and Bureau

In my opinion, the property _____ meets ____ does not meet the National Register criteria.

Signature of Commenting or Other Official/Title

Date

Date

June 21, 2001

State or Federal Agency and Bureau

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES NOMINATION USDI/NPS NRHP Registration Form (Rev. 8-86)

Hungarian Settlement School, Livingston Parish, LA

United States Department of the Interior, National Park Service

NPS Form 10-900

01____

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE CERTIFICATION 4.

	nat this property is: ne National Register	
Determined	eligible for the National Register	
	not eligible for the National Registor the National Register	ster
Other (expla	in): N. Beall	<u> </u>
Signature of Keep	per	Date of Action
V		
5. CLASSIFIC	ATION	
	vnership of Property	Category of Property
	ivate:	Building(s): <u>x</u>
	blic-Local: <u>x</u>	District:
	blic-State:	Site:
Pu	blic-Federal:	Structure:
		Object:

Number of Resources within Property
Contributing
<u> </u>

Non contributing buildings _____ sites structures objects 0 Total

Number of Contributing Resources Previously Listed in the National Register: 0

Name of Related Multiple Property Listing: NA

Hungarian Settlement School, Livingston Parish, LA United States Department of the Interior, National Park Service

FUNCTION OR USE 6.

Historic: education Sub: school

Current: vacant Sub: NA

7. DESCRIPTION

Architectural Classification: no style

Materials:

Foundation: brick weatherboard Walls: Roof: metal Other:

Describe Present and Historic Physical Appearance.

The Hungarian Settlement School is a rambling wood frame building built at an unknown date in the early twentieth century in Springfield and moved in 1928 to nearby Hungarian Settlement. (A date of c.1910 will be used for the original construction in this nomination.) The building for the most part is quite plain; hence the term "no style" is being used for purposes of this nomination. It occupies a two acre parcel on the corner of two-lane Louisiana Highway 43 and Presbyterian Church Road. The locale is largely rural, although modern brick ranch houses are within sight. With the exception of the loss of all but one of the entrance porches, the school looks much as it did from 1928 to 1943, the period of significance for this nomination.

The Move:

The large ethnic enclave of Hungarian Settlement received its first school in about 1920. This building burned in the 1927-28 school year. On April 3, 1928, a delegation from Hungarian Settlement appeared before the Livingston Parish School Board requesting that their situation be addressed. On November 6, 1928, the school board decided to award a contract to a Mr. Thompson to move a no longer used school building in Springfield (3-4 miles to the south) to Hungarian Settlement. Any moving expenses that exceeded the \$150 allotted by the school board would be paid by the people of Hungarian Settlement. According to old-timers who witnessed the move as children, the school was moved on logs pulled by oxen. Apparently it was moved in sections.

The Building:

The school has roughly a U-shaped footprint. The northern "leg" of the U may have been added when the school was moved to its present location in 1928. The building does not have a main façade with a main entrance. Instead there are two principal elevations which join at a right angle. A fan-shaped auditorium is located at the corner with small classrooms to each side. Each classroom as well as the auditorium had its own entrance marked by a small porch with a pyramidal roof and simple Eastlake posts (per an early photo showing the school in its Springfield location). Today only one porch survives. The northern two room "leg" of the U is not articulated in this manner and features a slightly different interior treatment – all of which makes one suspect that it was added as part of the move. Windows are two over two and typically are grouped in pairs. In its original location the corner of the school was marked by a simple belfry. This element was not moved to Hungarian Settlement.

The interiors are simply finished, with the walls and ceiling sheathed in beaded boards. Most rooms have a beaded board wainscot. The ceiling boards of the fan-shaped auditorium come together in a V-shape as do the floorboards. Historically each classroom had its own heating, as can be seen in remnants of the exhaust systems. (Former students recall gathering firewood for the stoves.)

The candidate ceased being a school in 1943 and in later years became a nursing home. Alterations made during this era include the loss or cutting-down of some of the exterior doors, some window replacement, the removal of the double windows and door at one end of the east-facing façade, and the creation of very wide openings between the auditorium and adjacent classrooms. (Formerly there were walls with a standard door.)

Until very recently, the long abandoned building was not secured, and one of the principal elevations was obscured by an unsightly enclosed porch addition made by the nursing home. At the advice of the Louisiana State Historic Preservation Office, local school enthusiasts formed the Hungarian Settlement Historical Society in 2000, obtained a long-term lease from the Livingston Parish School Board, and secured the building. In February 2001, again upon advice from the SHPO, the group removed the addition preparatory to this National Register nomination. Now they are working to secure funds for a complete restoration of the building (including the porches) and its re-use as a Hungarian heritage museum. The National Register nomination is being pursued at this time for two reasons: its psychological value and the importance of a Register designation for fundraising.

Assessment of Integrity:

When the Louisiana SHPO first evaluated the Hungarian Settlement School, there were two integrity issues - the enclosed porch addition spanning one facade and the loss of all but one of the original entrance porches. The removal of the addition helped immensely in re-establishing the school's historic appearance. And while the small porches admittedly are character-defining features, one survives and it will be duplicated. And even with the missing porches, the old school retains the remainder of its original character (including the interior) and hence would be recognizable to someone from the historic period.

8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Applicable National Register Criteria:	A <u>X</u> B_C_D_
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions):	AB_X_CDEFG_
Areas of Significance:	ethnic heritage (European), education
Period(s) of Significance:	1928-1943
Significant Dates:	NA
Significant Person(s):	NA
Cultural Affiliation:	NA
Architect/Builder:	unknown

State Significance of Property, and Justify Criteria, Criteria Considerations, and Areas and Periods of Significance Noted Above.

The Hungarian Settlement School is locally significant in the area of ethnic history as a rare survivor to represent the distinctive heritage of Hungarian Settlement. The school is of local educational significance because of its role in educating both children and adults. It was the principal school for Hungarian Settlement children from 1928, when it opened, to 1943, when it closed. Grades one through seven were taught there, and it is where many an Hungarian child learned English. In addition, adult education classes were held there at night.

Hungarian immigrants from the North were first attracted to Livingston Parish around 1896. The stimulus was the Charles Brakenridge Lumber Company, which advertised in Hungarian newspapers for workers, promising employment as well as the opportunity to buy land. The three original settlers were Julius Bruskay, Tivador Zboray and Adam Mocsary. They in turn wrote to friends and relatives in both America and Hungary, and Bruskay and Zboray visited Hungarian communities in the North to spread the word. Also, the Illinois Central Railroad paid to advertise the area in an Hungarian newspaper in Cleveland, Ohio. By 1900, seventeen Hungarian families had moved to the sawmill community. They called their settlement Arpadhon, or "place of Arpad," in honor of a legendary Hungarian hero. The earliest building (besides the sawmill complex) was the Immigration House, a large two story building built by Brakenridge Lumber to serve various needs. It provided temporary lodging for settlers and helped meet the immediate religious, educational and social needs of the fledgling colony. By 1910, the population of Arpadhon had grown to sixty-five families (291 people). Presbyterians built their permanent place of worship in 1908 and the larger Catholic population built St. Margaret's in 1910. Named for a patron saint of Hungary, the church was consecrated in 1912.

Despite the mill's closing in 1916, Arpadhon continued to grow in the 1920s as more and more Hungarians made it their home. Now the economic foundation was agriculture, with strawberries as the dominant crop. From the very beginning, one of the chief inducements to immigrate to the area had been the opportunity to buy cutover land (in twenty acre parcels) from the lumber company. In the early years, settlers combined farming with a long day's work in the mill. After the mill closed, they turned completely to farming, capitalizing on the strawberry boom occurring in the area. By 1935, Arpadhon had reached its peak population of about 200 families (1500 individuals). Up until the post World War II era, it was a strong self-contained ethnic enclave where Hungarian was most commonly spoken and Hungarian married Hungarian. (Former students of the Hungarian Settlement School interviewed for this nomination indicate they learned to speak English at school and that Hungarian remained the language at home.) In later years the name Arpadhon faded from use, as more and more people simply referred to the community as Hungarian Settlement, the name it is known by today.

Today very little survives to show someone that there was once a thriving Hungarian colony in the area. Historically, Arpadhon was a rural hamlet of scattered farms. Early farmhouses, as shown in photographs, were board and batten buildings with simple porches across the front and rear. Population figures demonstrate that at its peak, there must have been about 200 farmsteads in the settlement. Today, the farmsteads may still be there, but the old family home has been replaced with a brick ranch house. Only about a half dozen fifty-plus year old houses survive, in varying stages of integrity. None of these are the type of board and batten farmhouses that represent the earliest housing stock. The most significant building in Arpadhon, the Immigration House, is long gone. Fortunately, a photo survives. The community also had its own Hungarian newspaper, but the building where it was published is also gone, as are the farmer's

association meeting hall and the buildings housing St. Margaret's Parochial School and the first school. There are only three surviving historic buildings (other than the half dozen older houses mentioned above): the Presbyterian church, St. Margaret's Catholic Church (NR), and the Hungarian Settlement School.

Fortunately, there are several individuals still residing in the area who remember their school days in the candidate. They were interviewed for this nomination. All recalled that grades one through seven were taught in the building's five classrooms. Two grades were combined in some rooms, with one student remembering that the only difference in instruction was the books. One man recalled that the auditorium doubled as a classroom, in addition to being the venue for plays and graduation. The school year was based on the strawberry crop needing to be harvested in the spring; so "summer" break began in late March and the new school year started after July 4th. Those that could make an estimate generally recalled the size of their graduating class (7th grade), with the numbers running between 9 and about 20. Many remembered school as the place where they learned English.

During the historic period (1928-43), the candidate was the principal educational facility for the disbursed farmsteads of Hungarian Settlement. The nearest other schools were in Albany and Springfield, between 3 and 5 miles from the candidate. Some children went to the "regular" school (i.e., the non-Hungarian school) in these communities, depending on where their farm was located, but it is clear that the vast majority were educated at the candidate. Upon graduation from Hungarian Settlement School, students had to go to Albany or Springfield for high school.

The candidate additionally played an important role in adult education. Various classes were held in the evening, with the bulk relating to naturalization. Agricultural courses were also offered. As part of the instruction for electrical work classes, students wired the school (at a time when most farmsteads in the area did not yet have electricity).

Because of its role in educating both children and adults, the candidate is an immensely important building in the history of what was once a large, thriving Hungarian community. It and the two churches are rare survivors and were used by the community at large (in contrast to a private home). They tell an important story – one, it is hoped, which will find its first museum interpretation in a restored Hungarian Settlement School.

9. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

- Mocsary, Victoria Ann. Arpadhon: The Largest Hungarian Settlement in the United States. Folklife in the Florida Parishes Series, Center for Regional Studies, Southeastern Louisiana University, 1990.
- Interviews with Alex Petho, Ruby V. Petho, Nick Erdey, Raymond Blahut, Helen C. Galladora, Ethel Kolles Prokop, Helen Kolles Kropog, and Alex Bartus. Conducted by Donna Fricker, Louisiana Division of Historic Preservation, February 2000.
- Photo showing school in its Springfield location. Copy in National Register file, Louisiana Division of Historic Preservation.

Previous documentation on file (NPS): NA

- Preliminary Determination of Individual Listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested.
- ____ Previously Listed in the National Register. (partially)
- ____ Previously Determined Eligible by the National Register.
- ____ Designated a National Historic Landmark.
- ____ Recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey: #
- Recorded by Historic American Engineering Record: #

Primary Location of Additional Data:

- X State Historic Preservation Office
- Other State Agency
- ____ Federal Agency
- Local Government
- ____ University
- ____Other (Specify Repository):

10. GEOGRAPHICAL DATA

Acreage of Property: 2 acres

UTM References:	Zone	Easting	Northing
	15	732480	3373100

Verbal Boundary Description: See attached property plat map.

Boundary Justification: Boundaries follow the property lines of the parcel of land historically associated with the school.

11. FORM PREPARED BY

Name/Title: National Register staff

Address: Division of Historic Preservation, P. O. Box 44247, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70804

- Telephone: (225) 342-8160
- Date: April 2001

PROPERTY OWNERS

Livingston Parish School Board P. O. Box 1130 Livingston, LA 70754-1130

Long-term lease held by: Hungarian Settlement Historical Society, POB 250, Albany, LA 70711-0250



School as it appeared in Springfield before being moved to Hungarian Settlement in 1928. Note: Belfry not moved.

